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The Johnson-Hubbard House is a mid-nineteenth century dwelling characterized by 
a simplicity of general design and a wealth of vernacular detailing" The two-story 
frame structure with one-story rear ell is sheathed in weather-board siding accented 
by wide frieze board, base board and Doric corner stiles. The triple-A gable roof 
has widely overhanging unbracketed eaves.. Refinements of the exterior include the 
brick end chimneys with single paved shoulders and stuccoed surfaces penciled to 
resemble cut stone. The east chimney bears a faded inscription D which according 
to life-long resident Mary Hubbard Hemphill, once clearly said "1857." Like the 
chimneys, the stone foundation was stuccoed and penciled in imitation of cut stone. 
Some of this~ stuccoed surface remains intact. The two-story portion of the house 
is five bays wide and one deep, defined by-six-over-six sash windows which retain 
their wood louvered shutters. 

Ex~erior decoration is focused on the front entrance and center bay entrance 
porch. The entrance way evokes the spirit of both the Greek Revival and the Gothic 
Revival styles. The double-leaf door is accented by lozenge-shaped panels, while 
diamond and pointed-arch-shaped panels form a border to the doorway along with 
multi-paned sidelights and transom. The entrance is set off from the rest of the 
facade by both the flush boarding which surrounds it and by the hip-roofed porch. 
The center bay porch features a sheaf-of-wheat-patterned balustrade and latticework 
posts edged with small round wooden disks. The balustrade and posts are both quite 
similar to those found on several houses of the same period in neighboring north 
Iredell County. 

The one-story ell has simple service porches on east side and rear .. 
The two-story portion of the house was built between 1855 and 1857 by Stephen 

Johnson and consists of a center hall plan with two-over-two rooms. The one-story, 
two-room ell was added by Julius Cicero and Lula Hubbard in 1885 or shortly there­
after. Walls and ceilings in the two-story portion are flush-boarded, and while 
door and window surrounds, doors and mantels vary in design throughout the house, they 
are all basically Greek Revival in style. The most distinctive feature of the inter­
ior is found in the marbled surfaces. Although some of this has been painted over, 
richly colored painted marbling can still be seen in a well-preserved state on 
several mantels, basebOards, stair risers and two ,ceilings. The ceilings are 
especially interesting, because here the marbled effect was created by the use of 
a lighted pine torch on wet paint. Also of note on the interior of the house is 
the open string stairway with its slender balustrade and newel, scrolled brackets 
and paneled skirt. 

The, rooms of the rear eil are also sheathed in flush boarding, and the simple 
detailing is of late Greek Revival character. 

Outbuildings once included a kitchen, barn, wellhouse and smokehouse, though 
only the smokehouse remains. Th~s small structure is probably contempor~r_with the 
house. It features weatherboard siding, fieldstone foundation, gable roof, hewn 
framing with mortise and tenon joints, and iron strap hinges on the batten door. 

The Johnson-Hubbard House is situated on a less-than-one-acre lot across Main 
Street from the Wilkesboro-Smithey Hotel in the center of town. A white picket 
fence provides a domestic border along the north'(street) side of the property .. 
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The Johnson-Hubbard House is one of only several buildings which remain from 
Wilkesboro's pre-Civil War years. Built Qy local merchant Stephen Johnson between 
1855 and1857 and enlarged by Julius Cicero and Lula Hubbard in 1885, the well­
preserved house has remained in the same family ownership throughout its history. 
Exhibiting primarily Greek Revival influence, the Johnson-Hubbard House contains 
outstanding examples of mid-19th oentur:y decorative painting in its marbled mantels, 
ceilings, basebo~~s and stair risers--rare survivals for this area of North Car­
oline--along with other interior and exterior decorative details of high quality. 

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT 

c. The Johnson-Hubbard House, an 1850s vernacular representation of the Greek Revival 
style, d~splays a wealth of interior and exterior detailing ranging from the 

simple to the sophisticated .. · Particularly notable is the marbling of the basebOards, 
stair risers, and several ceilings and mantels, a rare reminder in tras area of the 
mid-nineteenth century decorative painter's art. 



HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

On 

rooms and Greek Revival 
Stephen Johnson was a chelor. ,and although' he spent most of his adult life 

in Wilkesboro, he was a native of Surry County" Johnson was a merchant and 
a store just west of his house,-where the Jesse T" Ferguson Stere now stands. 
addition, he served as county treasurer between 1868 and 1870. 

After Stephen Johnson's death, his house and lot 22 were sold on April 7v 1885 to his 
niece, Lula C. Hubbard, for $1~050.5 She had been reared by another aunt and uncle, the 

Jesse T. Fergusons, and. was marriad to Julius Cicero Hubbard I. Like Stephen Johnson, 
J. C. Hubbarg was~merchant,_operating a store next door with his wifeos uncle, Jesse 
T. Ferguson. Hubbard was involved in other business ventures as well, such as the 
Wilkesboro Hotel (later called the Smithey Hotel), which was built across Main Street 
from his house in81891.7 The Hubbards added the one-s~tory rear ell with dining 
room and kitchen. 

Since Lula Hubbard's death in 1948, the house has continued to be occupied by 
her daughter, Mary Hubbard Hemphill. 

Footnotes --

l L• B. Carmichael to Stephen Johnson, Nov. 2, 1854, Wilkes County Deeds, Office 
of the Register of Deeds, Wilkes County Courthouse, Wilkesboro, Book S, 217. 

~ary Hubbard Hemphill, interview by Laura A. W. Phillips, Wilkesboro, December 1979. 

3Julius Hubbard III, typesc~ipt material for the Old Wilkes Walking Tour. 

4 Johnson J. Hayes. The Land of ~Jilkes (Wilkesboro: Wilkes Co. Historical Society, 
1962), p. 179. 

5S • J. Ginnings and J. T. Ferguson, commissioners for the estate of Stephen John­
son, to 2Lula C. Hubbarcl, April 7, 1885. Wilkes County Deeds, Office of the Register 
of Deeds, Wilkes County Courthouse, Wilkesboro, Book 8, 353. 

6Hemphill interview. 

(continued) 

Hayes, Johnson J. The Land of Wilkes. Wilkesboro: ,Wilkes Co. Historical Society, 1962. 

Hempb..ill, Mary Hubbard. Interview by Laura A. H .. Phillips, Wilkesboro, December 1979. 

Hubbard, Julius III. Typescript material for the Old Wilkes W~king Tour. 

Wilkes Cqunty Deeds, Office of the Register of Deeds, Wilkes County Courthouse, 
Wilkesboro N. C. 
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The nominated property, located at 113 E. Main St. (south side of E. Main St. just 
east of Broad St.), consists of Parcel 6 of Block 3, Tax Map 103, Town of Wilkesboro. 
measuring 100 x 263 x 125 x 163 x 25 x 100 feet. The property includes the house 
and smokehouse and the less-than-one-acre lo~ on which they stand. 
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